Master James St George

Master James St George is a shadowy characteimmvgreat claims of military engineering have
been made, not only in respect to Harlech, bufial Edward’s works in Wales. However, when
the hyperbole has been stripped away, there iy nealy little left to connect him with the grand
strategy of building - as modern tourist guidesngla‘an iron ring of castles’ around Gwynedd.
Early records seem to indicate that his father,tBta’ohn, was a mason who worked on castles in
Savoy in the 1260s. The "St George" is believelneta reference to the castle of
Saint-Georges-d'Espéranche, located southeastoof. LYBelieved’ is the word best used for the
career of James, of which we actually know vetjelit It is therefore no surprise to find that King
Edward | is believed (without the slightest evidento have met Master James whilst visiting Savoy
in 1273. Despite this alleged fortuitous meetdward did not employ him until the late 1270s

The earliest references in English records to Jé&h€eorge are found in 1278, when he is
referred to as an engineéndeniator) or masonifiazun). His two less well waged colleagues were
only called engineers. In April 1278, he was relearas travelling to Wales ‘to organise the works
of the castles there’ and ‘to visit the castle§lait and Rhuddlan’. Only four royal castles were
being built at this time: Flint, Rhuddlan, BuilthdaAberystwyth, so this hardly makes him the genius
behind them all. Between 1278 and November 128f@/besaw the building works at Rhuddlan by
‘view and testimony’, which would suggest that hesvsupervisor rather than designer. Indeed on 27
July 1279, William Perton and Master James St Geargre recorded in that order as ‘keepers of the
king’s works at Rhuddlaif. On 19 May 1280, the order of precedence was kepthis time
William was described as a royal clerk and Jamekesper of the works of Rhuddlah’ On 1
November 1280, he joined the masons at Flint cagiteeiving 2s a day every day, while the other
masons only received as much as 10d per day anel @soin5d. Furthermore the others only
received payments for six days a week. James aidSqr seven.

It has been argued that St George became a ‘nmaasam’ on 9 December 1280, when he
was granted simple protection for seven yéar®espite this, he left Wales for Savoy in 1287%wh
this protection ran out. In doing this he is adlddo have left the building of Harlech castlet$o i
own devices and only signed the work off on hismein 1289. All this, of course, is mere
supposition.

After the Welsh war of 1282-83, Master James wagleyed again at Conway where he
seems to have been under John Condover of the erdin the meantime, on 3 December 1283,
John Bonvillars was paid ‘to oversee the king'sleasn Wales®. As late as 1286 work was said to
be undertaken at Conway by Lord John Bonvillars idiagter James. Their shared responsibility is
hinted at by the fact that around the same tima dotlered 500 wheelbarrows bought in Conway for
Caernarfon, while Master James bought only sevaiiteBuring 1284-85, Master James had also
been in charge of building a hall and royal apantsiéor £320, of which Master Richard the
Engineer and Master Henry Oxford claimed anoth@0fbr the carpenti{. In 1285-86, James was
paid a mere £64 for adding apertures to and minibdibhg works in the apartments within the
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fortress and repairing some 120 feet of the greditvear the castle wéll Again this hardly

suggests that James was the military genius behenglan of all the North Welsh castles. Indeed,
Master James’ far less omnipresent commands anensee clearly in his order for John Flauner to
cut the rock back near the river beneath Conwatjecpestern for £10. Although John went on to
complete this and build the eastern barbican ot#stle there is no evidence of the hand of Master
James in the work. In fact, in the payments of yl@ar, is one that mentions two small walls bnilt
the ditch between the castle and the residencelntrafgamera) of Master James. He still appears to
have been based in his chamber near the ditchrav&oin 1295'; hardly the luxurious habitation of
the master builder of all the Welsh castles. Suobsidence is not comparable with the multi-
roomed and fireplaced hall of Otto Grandison atWanwhich included passagesures) within it.
Although this hall was maintained by Master Jaméshardly the same as being a master builder of
fortresses and living within such a structure.

During the construction of Conway Master James ayginted master of the works in
Wales (nagister operacionumin Wallia) which brought with it a wage of three shillinggay - an
increase of one shilling on his previous stipe@h 20 October 1284, Master James St George was
described as a royal serjeant and his wage wasmgead for life, and on his death 1s 6d was tago t
his widow, Ambrosia, if she survived him. Simukausly Master Richard the Engineer, another
king's serjeant, was granted a shilling per dawionilar terms°. Despite this, it should be noted
that Master James’ name does not occur once itiael® the construction of Harlech castle!

The next year, on 3 October 1285, John Bonvilldws overseer of the king's castles in
Wales, replaced Hugh Wlonkeslawe as constable dékfg a position he maintained until his
drowning in August 1287 during the campaign agaists ap Maredudd. His widow then seems to
have remained in charge of Harlech castle untill§ 31290, when 100 marks (£66 13s 4d) were sent
to James St George. Further Agnes, the widow oh Bonvillars, was ordered to hand Harlech
castle over to James as the new constable. Jattethis position until 14 December 1293 when
Robert Staundon took over. Therefore, if anyons hkely to have been the designer of Edwardian
Harlech, it was Edward I, who stayed there sevaras before works began, or more likely Sir John
Bonvillars, the castle overseer. Even then hisidasund August 1287 would mean that his widow
was probably responsible for overseeing the workhiasband had put in hand. All Master James did
was take over the castle once the work was done.

In April 1295, James was overseer of the new casiile at Beaumaris, and on 20 August he
was granted the North Welsh estate of Mostyn, Hisite for the duration of his lifé'. Later he
worked for Edward | in Scotland, probably joiningitthere around September 1298. In February
1302 he was appointed to oversee the new defenht@dithgow castle and also worked at Stirling
during the 1304 siege. By 20 May 1309, Master 3a8te€5eorge, was recorded as recently
deceased, when Mostyn was reclaimed by the Ctéwilihere is no record of James's wife,
Ambrosia, receiving a pension after his deatht soprobable that she did not survive him. Inrsho
the only thing this summary of James’ career séemshow in relation to Harlech castle is that he
enjoyed its constableship for three years aftezatapletion.

Extracted from: Remfry, P.Mdarlech Castle and its True Origins [Ceidio, 2014] (ISBN 1-
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